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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF LANCASTER COUNTY, NEBRASKA 

 

ELIZABETH MAYS,      )         CI 14-1065 
And all others similarly situated,  )     
      ) 

Plaintiff,   )      ORDER AND JUDGMENT 
      ) 
 vs.     ) 
      )          
MIDNITE DREAMS, INC., d/b/a  ) 
SHAKER’S and DANIEL ROBINSON, ) 
      ) 

Defendants.   ) 
 

 This matter came on for trial on the 23rd and 24th of January, 2017.  Plaintiff was 

represented by her attorney Kathleen Neary, and Defendants Midnite Dreams, Inc. 

d/b/a Shaker’s and Daniel Robinson were represented by their attorney, Robert 

Creager.  Evidence was adduced and the matter was taken under advisement pending 

briefing by the parties.  The Court being fully advised in the premises now finds and 

orders as follows:   

Plaintiff alleges she is due and owing wages for work she performed as an exotic 

dancer at Shakers Gentlemen’s Club from March 13, 2012 through February 21, 2014.  

Defendants allege that no wages are due and owing to Plaintiff because she was an 

independent contractor working under an “Independent Artist Lease Agreement” 

between Plaintiff and Midnite Dreams, Inc.   Defendant Daniel Robinson denies that he 

had an agreement with Plaintiff, individually, or that he is otherwise liable to the Plaintiff.  

Under the lease agreement, which she renewed on an annual basis, Plaintiff was 

allowed to use the stage and dressing rooms at Shaker’s facility to perform her artistic 

exotic dances for a flat lease fee.  For an additional fee, she was allowed to use any of 

the private rooms to dance for her customers.  Plaintiff earned money from the “tips” 

given to her by her customers, but did not receive any remuneration from Defendants.  

She now seeks to recover past wages, liquidated damages and attorney’s fees under 

the Fair Labor Standards Act and the Nebraska Wage Payment and Collection Act.   

Filed in Lancaster District Court
*** EFILED ***

Case Number: D02CI140001065
Transaction ID: 0005172170

Filing Date: 04/25/2017 03:47:36 PM CDT
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

 Plaintiff lived in Wisconsin but travelled to strip clubs in various locations to work 

as an exotic dancer.  From March 13, 2012 through February 21, 2014, Plaintiff 

performed as an exotic dancer at Shaker’s Gentlemen’s Club in Waverly, Nebraska.  

Shaker’s was operated by Defendant Midnite Dreams, Inc. and owned by Defendant 

Daniel Robinson.  Shakers had various business models over the years, first employing 

the dancers, then hiring the dancers as independent contractors and, in early 2000, the 

club began having the dancers sign lease agreements. 

Plaintiff in this case entered into an Independent Artist Lease Agreement on at 

least two occasions – February 19, 2013 and February 20, 2014 - for terms of one year.  

The agreements were entered into between Plaintiff and Midnite Dreams Inc., a 

Nebraska Corporation d/b/a Shakers. The lease agreement was signed by Plaintiff and 

Daniel Robinson, as a witness for Midnite Dreams, Inc. Defendant Robinson held all the 

corporate offices of Midnite Dreams, Inc., never held corporate meetings, authored no 

minutes of corporate meetings and did not have a separate corporate office.   

Plaintiff performed her exotic dances by paying a flat lease fee to use the stage 

and dressing room area.  For an additional fee, she could use a private room where she 

danced for her customers.  She used the facility when she saw fit.  There was no set 

schedule or times when she had to dance at the club.  She kept all of the tips that she 

earned.  The evidence does not establish that Plaintiff earned less than the minimum 

wage during any time that she used the facility.   Her records show that she made an 

average of $44 per hour throughout the time she danced at Shakers from March of 

2012 through February, 2014.    

The evidence at trial shows that Defendants controlled no less than fifty terms 

and conditions of Plaintiff’s employment that were wholly outside the four corners of the 

parties’ Independent Lease Agreements. Defendant Robinson admitted that he and his 

employees posted signs at Shaker’s or verbally communicated the additional rules to 

the dancers.  The evidence at trial shows that the following rules were imposed on 

Plaintiff and the other dancers: 
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• Defendants dictated the time Plaintiff had to arrive at Shaker’s.   

• Defendants dictated that Plaintiff pay fees before her shift started.   

• Defendants scheduled Plaintiff to dance at a specific time.   

• Defendants required Plaintiff to have her hair, make-up and dress done 

before going downstairs to dance.  

• Defendants required hair, make-up and dress to be done at least half an hour 

after Plaintiff arrived at Shaker’s.   

• Defendants Limited Plaintiff’s time in the dressing room to 10 minutes.   

• Defendants required Plaintiff to sign in to use the dressing room.   

• Defendants dictated the number of dancers who could be in the dressing 

room if there were 8 or fewer dancers working.   

• Defendants dictated the number of dancers who could be in the dressing 

room if there were 12 or more dancers present at Shaker’s.   

• Defendants dictated the number of women who could be in the dressing room 

if there were 16 or more dancers present at Shaker’s.   

• Plaintiff was required to clean Shaker’s on Thursday and Saturday nights 

(including, cleaning the mirrors, vanities, refrigerator, vacuuming the dressing 

room, taking the trash out and straightening the dressing room).    

• Defendants dictated that dancers who did not clean Shaker’s as mandated 

would lose dressing room privileges.  (No cleaning service was employed; the 

dancers did the cleaning.) 

• Plaintiff was required to take her top off during the first dance of her set.   

• Plaintiff was required to dance fully nude during the last song of the set.   

• Defendants dictated how many dances Plaintiff was required to perform in 

each set.   

• Plaintiff was not allowed to dance with her panties on.   

• Plaintiff was required to dance with high heeled shoes on.   

• Plaintiff was not allowed to dance barefoot.   

• Defendants dictated where Plaintiff could dance.   

• Defendants dictated how far Plaintiff had to be from customers.   
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• Defendants dictated how tips could be received by the dancers.  

• Defendants dictated how the dancers could dance and what they could or 

could not do.  

• Defendants prohibited Plaintiff from talking with customers on stage.   

• Plaintiff was only allowed to sit at the stage if a customer asked her to do so.  

• Plaintiff could sit at the stage only if there were plenty of seats not occupied 

by customers.  

• Plaintiff was prohibited from doing naked pole tricks.  

• Defendants prohibited dancers from putting any part of their body in 

customer’s mouths.    

• Defendants prohibited dancers from touching the customers.   

• Defendants dictated that dancers had to charge customers $20.00 for a stage 

dance.  

• Defendants required that if a stage dance was performed by the dancer, it 

was required to be done on the first dance.   

• Defendants required the dancers to put on panties before leaving the stage.   

• Defendants prohibited dancers from walking around Shaker’s nude.   

• Defendants required dancers to make it to the stage on time (as dictated by 

Defendants). 

• Defendants dictated the ½ hour VIP dance cost $150.00.  

• Defendants dictated the cost of private dances performed by the dancers.   

• Defendants dictated no private dances could be done before the dancer 

danced on stage.  

• Defendants dictated the method of payment for customers (i.e. no checks or 

credit cards, only cash). 

• Defendants received a $5.00 ATM fee for each withdrawal made at Shaker’s.  

• Defendants prohibited drugs and alcohol at the club.   

• Defendants prohibited lewd behavior.   

• Defendants prohibited obscene behavior.   

• Defendants required the dancers to “act like ladies.”   
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• Defendants required Plaintiff to clean the women’s bathroom every night.   

• Defendants required all conflicts to be brought to management.   

• Defendants prohibited dancers from taking cell phones downstairs at 

Shakers.  

• Defendants required the dancers use Husker lotion while dancing at Shaker’s.   

• Defendants prohibited dancers from sitting on the drink rail nude.   

• Defendants prohibited the dancers from coming in physical contact with 

customers if nude from the waist down.   

• Defendants required dancers to turn in tips at least ½ hour before closing 

time.  

• Defendants required dancers to be on the floor by 5:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 

Wednesday and Thursday nights if on the early shift.  

• Defendants required dancers to be on the floor by 6:30 p.m. for the late shift 

on Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday nights.  

• Defendants required dancers to be on the floor by 9:00 p.m. if working the 

late shift on Friday and Saturday nights.    

• Defendants were required to be on the floor by 5:00 pm if working the early 

shift on Friday and Saturday nights.   

• Defendants dictated that the dances must begin at the start of the song.   

• Defendants dictated the amount the dancers could charge for a dance.   

• Defendants dictated prices for 2 for 1 dances every night.   

• Defendants dictated that dancers must participate in the 2 for 1 dances.  

• Defendants prohibited dancers from having drinks in certain locations at 

Shaker’s.   

• Defendants required dancers to pay lease fees in advance of dancing.   

• Defendants directed where dancers had to place dirty towels.   

• Defendants required dancers to always be polite to customers.  

• Defendants prohibited dancers from taking a customer from the stage.  

• Defendants prohibited dancers from using trash cans without a liner.   
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• Defendants required dancers to check with Dan Robinson about their lease 

spot.   

• Defendants required dancers to separate recycling from trash.   

• Defendants required dancers to wear protective eye gear while using the 

tanning bed.   

• Defendants mandated that dancers clean the tanning bed after use.   

• Defendants dictated that dancers refrain from having any complaints about 

Shaker’s.   

• Defendants required Plaintiff to work one or two weekday nights if she wanted 

to dance on the weekend.   

• Defendants required dancers to attend mandatory meetings. 

• Plaintiff was not allowed to subcontract the lease agreement she had with 

Defendants.  

• Defendants required Plaintiff to dance if she was at Shaker’s.   

• Defendants dictated the music to which the dancers would dance.  

• Defendants required dancers to tip the Disk Jockey.   

• Defendants dictated the dancer line up.   

• Defendants dictated where dancers could eat at Shaker’s.  

 

ANALYSIS 

I. IS PLAINTIFF AN EMPLOYEE UNDER 

NEBRASKA LAW AND THE FLSA? 

  

 Plaintiff cites a number of cases from other jurisdictions which have held that 

exotic dancers are employees for purposes of the FLSA and state law.  Defendants 

argue that these cases are not binding on this court.  Further, that Plaintiff is neither an 

independent contractor nor an employee of Shaker’s; and that to the extent that she 

took advantage of the economic benefits that accrued to her under the lease 

agreement, she is estopped from asserting she is now entitled to hourly compensation.   
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A. Employee under Nebraska statutes and case law. 

 During the relevant time period in this case, the Nebraska Wage and Hour Act 

required employers to pay employees a minimum of $7.25 for each hour worked.  

Neb.Rev.Stat. §§ 48-1203(1)(a).  Employers are defined by statute as “any individual, 

partnership, limited liability company, association, corporation, business trust, legal 

representative, or organized group of persons employing four or more employees at any 

one time ….”  Neb.Rev.Stat. § 48-1202(2).  For purposes of the Wage Payment and 

Collection Act, employee is defined as: 

any individual permitted to work by an employer pursuant to an 
employment relationship or who has contracted to sell the goods of an 
employer and to be compensated by commission.  Services performed by 
an individual for an employer shall be deemed to be employment, unless it 
is shown that (a) such individual has been and will continue to be free 
from control or direction over the performance of such services, both 
under his or her contract of service and in fact, (b) such service is either 
outside the usual course of business for which such service is performed 
or such service is performed outside of all the places of business of the 
enterprise for which such service is performed, and (c) such individual is 
customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, 
profession, or business.   

Neb.Rev.Stat. § 48-1229(1).  

This statutory test, sometimes called the ABC test, is similar to requirements 

directed by Nebraska case law.  Under Nebraska case law, “[t]he criteria for determining 

whether one is an independent contractor or an employee include the right of control, 

the independence the workman enjoys, the degree of supervision of the work, whether 

tools are provided by the workman or the other party, the method of payment and the 

contractual understanding between the parties.”  Rudolf v. Tombstone Pizza Corp., 214 

Neb. 276, 281-282, 333 N.W.2d 674 (1983) (plaintiff found to be an employee where 

defendant controlled and supervised the plaintiff’s work activities and supplied work 

related items).   

The Nebraska Supreme Court has also stated:  
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[t]here are 10 factors which are considered in determining whether a 
person is an employee or an independent contractor: (1) the extent of 
control which, by the agreement, the employer may exercise over the 
details of the work; (2) whether the one employed is engaged in a distinct 
occupation or business; (3) the kind of occupation, with reference to 
whether, in the locality, the work is usually done under the direction of the 
employer or by a specialist without supervision; (4) the skill required in the 
particular occupation; (5) whether the employer or the one employed 
supplies the instrumentalities, tools, and the place of work for the person 
doing the work; (6) the length of time for which the one employed is 
engaged; (7) the method of payment, whether by the time or by the job; 
(8) whether the work is part of the regular business of the employer; (9) 
whether the parties believe they are creating an agency relationship; and 
(10) whether the employer is or is not in business.   

Kime v. Hobbs, 252 Neb. 407, 414, 562 N.W.2d 705 (1997) (citing Pettit v. State, 249 

Neb. 666, 544 N.W.2d 855 (1996)).   Of all of these factors, “[t]he right of control is the 

chief factor distinguishing an employment relationship from that of an independent 

contractor.”  Id. at 414. 

Defendants argue that the dancers did not have a set schedule and could use 

the club as they pleased with no obligation to use the property.  Defendants admit that 

there were “house rules” for the dancers but state that these “suggestions” were only to 

exercise such control as was necessary to assure performance of the lease agreement 

according to its terms.  Plaintiff asserts that the numerous house rules at Shaker’s 

transformed Mays into an employee as that term is defined under state law.  Further, 

that it is the employer’s burden to prove that a plaintiff is not an employee.  This Court is 

persuaded by the case law cited by Plaintiff from other jurisdictions1 and agrees with her 

analysis.  

                                                           
1 The U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York’s opinion in Hart v. Rick’s Cabaret Internat’l, Inc., 967 
F.Supp.2d 901 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (plaintiffs, who are exotic dancers, were held to be employees of Rick’s Cabaret N.Y. 
strip club entitled to minimum wage under the FLSA and New York labor laws, and the obligation to pay such a wage 
was not discharged by customers’ payments to the dancers) and the Fourth Circuit’s opinion in McFeeley v. Jackson 
Street Entertainment, LLC, 825 F.3d 235 (4th Cir. 2016) (affirmed district court’s grant of summary judgment finding 
plaintiffs were employees and not independent contractors under federal and state law; also affirmed jury trial verdict 
for unpaid wages and district court’s award of liquidated damages) are particularly instructive because the facts in 
those cases are similar to the facts in this case. 
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The “house rules” listed above were all outside the terms of the lease agreement.  

The rules controlled the dancers’ movement, their dress, their dancing, their cleaning 

duties, their schedule, their contact with customers, the rates they charged, the lotion 

they used, the music they danced to, their use of cell phones, their movement within the 

club, the method of customer payment, and their attendance at mandatory meetings.  

Plaintiff testified and Defendant Robinson agreed that the rules were enforced by verbal 

reprimand and financial penalties.  Thus, the rules were more than just “suggestions.” 

It is undisputed that the work performed by the exotic dancers occurred only on 

Defendants’ premises and was an integral part of Defendants’ business in running a 

“gentlemen’s club.”  Although the Plaintiff was free to perform at other clubs, the 

contractual arrangement was no different than any other employee, such as a waiter or 

bartender, who was free to work at other places. Whether Plaintiff was customarily 

engaged in an independently established trade is determined by other cases which 

have answered that question in the negative. 

Both parties agree that there is no Nebraska case law directly on point with the 

facts in this case.  However, cases in other states have determined that exotic dancers 

are akin to waiters, waitresses and bartenders, in looking at the factors to determine 

whether they are employees or independent contractors.  In Terry v. Sapphire/Sapphire 

Gentlemen’s Club, LLC, 336 P.3d 951 (Nev. 2014), the Supreme Court of Nevada noted 

that while the club did not produce a set schedule for performers, the club heavily 

monitored the performers including dictating their appearance, interactions with 

customers, work schedules regarding minimum shift hours, and minute to minute 

movements when working.  Id. at 959.   The court concluded that the dancers were 

employees for purposes of Nevada’s minimum wage law, and the fact that they were 

free to work at other clubs or in other lines of work does not distinguish them from 

countless workers in other areas such as waiters, ushers and bartenders.  Id. at 960.   

In making its determination, the Nevada Supreme Court, for purposes of judicial 

efficiency, adopted the same test as used by the federal courts under the Fair Labor 

Standards Act.  Id. at 957.  See also Jeffcoat v. Alaska Dep’t of Labor, 732 P.2d 1073 

(Alaska 1987) (dancers found to be employees based on state labor laws modeled on 
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FLSA).  Nebraska courts have also used the federal courts’ economic realities test 

when determining whether an employer-employee relationship exists for purposes of 

the Fair Labor Standards Act.  See, e.g., Janda v. City of Omaha, 7 Neb. App. 98, 580 

N.W.2d 123 (1998). 

B. Employee under the Fair Labor Standards Act  

The Fair Labor Standards Act defines an employee as “any individual employed 

by an employer,” 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)(1); “employ” means “to suffer or permit to work.”  

29 U.S.C. § 203(g).  In deciding whether an individual is an employee or independent 

contractor, the federal courts have adopted an “economic realities” test to determine 

whether an individual is “economically dependent on the business to which he renders 

service or is, as a matter of economic reality, in business for himself.”  McFeeley v. 

Jackson Street Entertainment, LLC, 825 F.3d 235, 241 (4th Cir. 2016) (citing Schulz v. 

Capital Int’l Sec. Inc., 466 F.3d 298, 304-05 (4th Cir. 2006)).   The economic realities test 

is comprised of six factors: 1) the degree of control that the putative employer has over 

the manner in which the work is performed; 2) the worker’s opportunities for profit or 

loss dependent on his managerial skill; 3) the worker’s investment in equipment or 

material, or his employment of other workers; 4) the degree of skill required for the 

work; 5) the permanence of the working relationship; and 6) the degree to which the 

services rendered are an integral part of the putative employer’s business.  Id.   

No one factor is dispositive.  The test is based on a totality of the circumstances 

analysis, with “the ultimate question being whether the workers depend upon someone 

else’s business for the opportunity to render service or are in business for themselves.”  

Hart v. Ricks Cabaret Internat’l, Inc., 967 F.Supp.2d 901, 912 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (citations 

omitted).   The economic realities test is inherently case-specific.  However, the great 

weight of authority under FLSA law has found that an employment relationship exists 

between exotic dancers and their clubs and that the nightclubs are required to pay their 

dancers minimum wages.2    

                                                           
2See, e.g., McFeeley v. Jackson St. Ent., LLC, 825 F.3d 235, 244 (4th Cir. 2016); Reich v. Circle C. Investments, Inc., 
998 F.2d 324, 330 (5th Cir. 1993); Lester v. Agment, LLC, No. 1:15 CV 886, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 52916 (N.D. Ohio 
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1. Degree of Control 

As enumerated above, there were many “house rules” or guidelines posted at 

Shaker’s during the time that Mays worked there from 2012 through 2014.  The rules 

pertained to every aspect of the dancer’s conduct in the club and violation of the rules 

resulted in discipline through the imposition of fines or verbal reprimands.  Other such 

cases have found that a club’s power to impose discipline for failure to follow a set of 

rules or guidelines amounts to the exercise of significant control over the dancers.   

Hart, 967 F.Supp.2d at 913-19; Clincy v. Galardi South Enterprises, Inc., 808 F.Supp.2d 

1326, 1343-46 (N.D. Ga. 2011) (Court found Defendants exercised a significant amount 

of control over the entertainers weighing in favor of an employee-employer relationship 

where club controlled scheduling, conduct of dancers on stage, dress and appearance 

and cost of table-side and VIP dances).    

Apart from the “house rules” imposed on the dancers, Shaker’s also controlled all 

other aspects of the operation of the club.  Defendants controlled the advertising, the 

hours of operation, the music played by the DJ, the lighting, the prices that could be 

charged for dances, the hiring or leasing agreements of the other dancers, and the 

hiring of other employees such as bartenders, door persons and wait staff.    As stated 

earlier, the control factor obviously weighs heavily in favor of the dancers being 

employees rather than independent artists leasing space in the club. 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
April, 20, 2016); Gardner v. Country Club, Inc., No.: 4:13-cv-03399-BHH, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 162009 (D.S.C. Dec. 
3, 2015); Mason v. Fantasy, LLC, No. 13-CV-02020-RM-KLM, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 97640 (D. Colo. July 27, 2015); 
Henderson v. 1400 Northside Drive, Inc., 110 F. Supp. 3d 1318 (N.D. Ga. 2015); Verma v. 3001 Castor, Inc., No. 
CIV.A. 13-3034, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88459 (E.D. Pa. June 30, 2014): Stevenson v. Great Am. Dream, Inc., No. 
1:12-CV-3359-TWT, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 181551 (N.D. Ga. Dec. 31, 2013); Hart v. Rick's Cabaret Int'l, Inc., 967 F. 
Supp. 2d 901, 912-13 (S.D.N.Y. 2013); Collins v. Barney's Barn, Inc., et al., No. 4:12CV00685 SWW, 2013 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 184276 (E.D. Ark. Nov. 14, 2013); Butler v. PP&G, Inc., No. CIV.A. WMN-13-430, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
159417 (D. Md. Nov. 7, 2013) reconsideration denied, No. CIV.A. WMN-13-430, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5804 (D. Md. 
Jan. 16, 2014); Thornton v. Crazy Horse, Inc., No. 3:06-CV-00251-TMB, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 82770 (D. Alaska 
June 14, 2012); Clincy v. Galardi S. Enters., Inc., 808 F. Supp. 2d 1326, 1343 (N.D. Ga. 2011); Thompson v. Linda 
and A. Inc., 779 F. Supp. 2d 139, 151 (D.D.C. 2011); Morse v. Mer Corp., No. 1:08-cv-1389-WTL-JMS, 2010 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 55636 (S.D. Ind. 2010); Harrell v. Diamond A Entm't Inc., 992 F. Supp. 1343, 1348 (M.D. Fla. 1997); 
Reich v. Priba Corp., 890 F. Supp. 586, 594 (N.D. Tex. 1995); Martin v. Priba Corp., No. 3:91-CV-2786-G, 1992 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 20143 (N.D. Tex. 1992).  Contra Hilborn v. Prime Time Club, Inc., No. 11-00197, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
188881 (E.D. Ark. July 12, 2012) (defendant’s motion for summary judgment granted where parties submitted the 
matter on stipulated facts); Matson v. 7455, Inc., No. 98-788, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23013 (D.Or. Jan.14, 2000) 
(defendant granted summary judgment where plaintiff failed to produce evidence that she was wrongfully 
compensated). 
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2. Opportunity for Profit/Loss; Investment in Business  

One of the factors to determine whether a worker is an employee or an 

independent contractor includes the amount of investment the worker has in the 

business.  The more a worker’s earnings depend on his/her own managerial capacity 

rather than the company’s, and the more he/she is personally invested in the capital and 

labor of the enterprise, the less the worker is economically dependent on the business 

and hence an independent contractor rather than an employee.  McFeeley, 825 F.3d at 

243.   

Plaintiff in this case exercised no managerial skill and had little to do with the 

amount of profit or loss she received from her dancing.  The dancers’ investment at 

Shaker’s was limited to their own costumes and makeup and paying the fees to dance 

at the club.  There was no investment by the dancers in the overhead costs of running 

the operations of the club.  Accordingly, the amount of managerial skill and operational 

support weighs too heavily in favor of the Defendants to classify the dancers as 

independent contractors. 

3. Degree of Skill Required for the Work 

Plaintiff testified that she never received any specialized training to become an 

exotic dancer.  Defendant Robinson did not testify as to any skill requirements imposed.  

The minimal skill required for exotic dancing at Shaker’s also supports an employee 

classification. 

4. Permanence of the Working Relationship 

Courts have generally accorded this factor little weight in challenges brought by 

exotic dancers.  McFeeley, 825 F.3d at 244.  Plaintiff testified that Defendant threatened 

to terminate her lease on several occasions. Defendant Robinson testified that the 

dancers had the power to not show up to work and Defendants had the power to stop 

leasing the premises to the dancers.  Because an at-will employment agreement could 

characterize an employee or independent contractor relationship, this factor does not 

affect the outcome.      
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5. Importance of Service Rendered to Business 

The Defendants’ business in this case is a “gentlemen’s club” which is advertised 

as a juice bar with live entertainment.   Defendant Robinson testified that Shaker’s was 

known as a fully nude establishment.  Shaker’s depends upon the dancers like Plaintiff 

to bring in customers for its profits, thus the dancers are an integral part of Defendants’ 

business.  The importance of the dancers to the club’s business weighs in favor of the 

dancers being employees rather than independent contractors.   

C. Plaintiff is an employee under both Nebraska and federal law. 

In summary, by instituting and enforcing the posted and verbal rules at Shaker’s, 

Defendants transformed Mays into an employee as that term is defined under state and 

federal law.  In a similar situation, the Fourth Circuit stated: “We must be mindful in the 

end that we are applying a statute which Congress thought was necessary to provide 

‘fair labor standards’ for employees, including those marginalized workers unable to 

exert sufficient leverage or bargaining power to achieve adequate wages in the absence 

of statutory protections.  To rule for the clubs under the circumstances here would run 

too great a risk of undercutting the Act’s basic aim.”   McFeeley, 825 F.3d at 247.  

Plaintiff is an employee under Nebraska statutes and the FLSA. 

II. IS PLAINTIFF ESTOPPED FROM SEEKING 

RECOVERY BY HER LEASE AGREEMENT? 

 
Defendants argue that Plaintiff is prevented from arguing that she is an employee 

because she entered into the lease agreement.  Defendants argue that Plaintiff profited 

from the lease agreement and is therefore estopped from now arguing that she was an 

employee and not a tenant or lessee.  Plaintiff argues that because the Defendants 

established and enforced numerous rules outside the lease agreement, they 

transformed Mays into an employee.  

The essence of equitable estoppel in this instance would be to avoid an injustice 

where one party has benefitted from an agreement on which the other party has 

detrimentally relied.  Generally, the party against whom estoppel is invoked must have 
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received a profit or benefit and the party invoking the doctrine of estoppel must have 

been induced to change his position to his detriment.  See generally, Olsen v. Olsen, 

265 Neb. 299, 657 N.W.2d 1 (2003).  Defendants’ argument is flawed because there is 

no injustice that would result from the avoidance of the lease agreement.  The tips paid 

to the Plaintiff were paid by the customers, not the Defendants.  Defendants paid no 

wages to the Plaintiff.  To the contrary, Plaintiff paid Defendants to “lease” space to 

perform.  Plaintiff did not benefit at the Defendants’ expense and Defendants did not 

rely to their detriment on the lease agreement.  Compare McFeeley, 825 F.3d at 239 

(defendants’ counterclaims against exotic dancers for breach of contract, unjust 

enrichment, conversion and fraud unsuccessful); Hart, 967 F.Supp.2d at 934-35 

(defendants’ unjust enrichment counterclaim against exotic dancers dismissed). 

More importantly, federal courts have held that employers cannot avoid liability 

for wages by contracting with their employees in violation of the FLSA.  See McFeeley, 

825 F.3d at 239; Hart, 967 F.Supp.2d at 935.  Other jurisdictions have held that an 

employer’s “protestations that the performers never intended to be employees, and 

agreed to be independent contractors are beside the point.”  Terry, 336 P.3d at 951.  

Similarly, the Nebraska Supreme Court has held that an employer cannot circumvent 

the Nebraska Wage Payment and Collection Act through contrary provisions in an 

employment agreement.  “If an act is prohibited by statute, an agreement in violation of 

the statute is void.”  Moore v. Eggers Consulting Co., 252 Neb. 396, 406, 562 N.W.2d 

534 (1997).   The lease agreement between the Plaintiff and Defendants is void.  

Plaintiff is not estopped from recovering her damages under Nebraska and federal law. 

 

III. WHAT ARE PLAINTIFF’S RECOVERABLE DAMAGES 

 UNDER NEBRASKA LAW AND THE FLSA? 
 
 

 At trial, Plaintiff presented exhibits showing the hours that she worked at the club 

and the amount she received in tips.  This evidence is undisputed since Defendants did 

not keep any records of the Plaintiff’s hours at the club.  “Where an employer has failed 

to keep proper and accurate records in violation of the FLSA, an employee maintains 

his burden of proof ‘if he proves that he has in fact performed work for which he was 
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improperly compensated and if he produces sufficient evidence to show the amount and 

extent of that work as a matter of just and reasonable inference.’”  Kreus v. Stiles 

Service Center, 250 Neb. 526, 533, 550 N.W.2d 320 (1995) (citing Anderson v. Mt. 

Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680, 66 S.Ct. 1187, 90 L.Ed. 1515 (1946)).   

 
A.  Nebraska statutory remedies 

Employers who violate Nebraska wage and hour laws are liable to the employee 

for wages due, attorney’s fees (of not less than 25 percent of the unpaid wages), and 

costs of suit. 3  Neb.Rev.Stat. § 48-1231.  In addition, if an employee establishes a claim 

and secures judgment under Neb.Rev.Stat. § 48-1231, 1) an amount equal to the 

judgment may be recovered from the employer; or 2) if the nonpayment of wages is 

found to be willful, an amount equal to two times the amount of unpaid wages shall be 

recovered from the employer. Neb.Rev.Stat. § 48-1232.  Any amount recovered under 

Neb.Rev.Stat. § 48-1232 shall be placed in a fund to be distributed to the common 

schools of the state.  Id.   

It is within the Court’s discretion whether to order an employer to pay to the 

common schools fund an amount equal to the judgment.  The Nebraska Supreme Court 

has held that such discretion is in the nature of a penalty and should be exercised only 

where there is no reasonable dispute as to whether wages are owed or as to the 

amount of the wages.  Roseland v. Strategic Staff Mgmt., 272 Neb. 434, 442, 722 

N.W.2d 499 (2006).     Plaintiff requests judgment for unpaid wages in the amount of 

$3,793.39 plus attorney’s fees, costs, refund of her filing fee, and in addition, requests 

that two times the amount of judgment ($7,586.78) be awarded to the Nebraska public 

school fund.4   

B.  FLSA remedies 
The FLSA requires every “employer” to pay each employee a minimum wage.  

29 U.S.C. § 206(a).  The FLSA further requires that the employer pay one and one-half 

                                                           
3The Nebraska statutes do not provide for payment of overtime wages where there is no previous agreement 
regarding overtime compensation.  See Neb. Rev. Stat. 48-1229(4); Freeman v. Central States Health & Life Co., 2 
Neb. App. 803, 807, 515 N.W.2d 131 (1994) (plaintiffs not allowed to recover overtime compensation under the 
Nebraska Wage Act absent prior agreement with employer). 
4 Plaintiff further requests leave to submit an attorney fee application as well as an affidavit of costs. 
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times the employee’s regular rate of pay for hours worked over forty in any workweek.  

29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).  According to the undisputed evidence at trial, Mays worked 

regular hours during November of 2012 through February 2014, and overtime hours in 

the following weeks:  March 11, 2012, June 17, 2012, August 19, 2012, February 17, 

2013, and April 1, 2013.  Plaintiff argues she is due and owing both regular and 

overtime pay for those weeks.  

Any employer who violates section 206 or 207 of the FLSA (the sections at issue 

herein), shall pay the employees their unpaid minimum wages, the overtime 

compensation due, and an additional equal amount as liquidated damages. 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b).   The employer shall also pay reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.  Id.  Plaintiff 

is requesting damages under the FLSA in the amount of $7,586.78 plus reasonable 

attorney’s fees and costs. 

C. Plaintiff’s Damages   

1. Minimum wages owed to Plaintiff. 

Mays testified the minimum wage for the relevant time period was $7.25 per 

hour.   Defendants now argue in their brief that if Plaintiff recovers minimum wages it 

should be $2.13 per hour, the amount allowed for employees provided gratuities under 

§ 48-1203(2).  Defendants point out that by Plaintiff’s own admission, she worked for 

tips or gratuities and she clearly made more in tips than the applicable minimum wage 

for full time hourly employees.  Accordingly, any applicable minimum wage would be 

$2.13 per hour, not $7.25 per hour.  Plaintiff argues that due to Defendants’ failure to 

advise Plaintiff of the tip credit provisions and their failure to provide her any wages, 

Defendants cannot now claim a “tip credit” against straight and overtime wages that are 

due and owing to the Plaintiff.   

“Under federal law, an employer may ‘pay tipped employees an hourly rate less 

than the federal minimum wage, by allowing [employer’s] to credit a portion of the actual 

amount of tips received by the employee against the required hourly minimum wage.’”  

Hart, 967 F.Supp.2d at 933 (quoting Chung v. New Silver Palace Rest., Inc., 246 

F.Supp.2d 220, 228 (S.D.N.Y. 2002)).  To take advantage of the “tip credit” employers 
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have to 1) provide their employees with proper notice of minimum wage laws (by 

providing a copy of  § 29 U.S. 203(m));  and 2) inform them that their tips would be used 

as a credit against the minimum wage as permitted by law.  Id. at 934.  If the employer 

has not complied with both of these statutory requirements, then no “tip credit” can be 

taken and the employer is liable for the full minimum wage.  Id.  See also McFeeley, 825 

F.3d at 245-46.   

It is undisputed that Defendants did not inform the Plaintiff that her tips would be 

used as a tip credit because Defendants treated the dancers as independent 

contractors and not employees.  Defendants paid no wages to the Plaintiff.  The tips 

Plaintiff received thus cannot qualify as a “tip credit” and do not mitigate or relieve 

Defendants’ duty to pay Plaintiff the full minimum wage in effect at the time she 

performed at the club.  Accordingly, Plaintiff is owed minimum wages at the rate of 

$7.25 per hour, for a total of $3,494.48. 

2.  Overtime wages due to Plaintiff. 

The FLSA provides that no employer shall employ any employee for a workweek 

exceeding 40 hours unless the employee is compensated for all hours beyond 40 at the 

rate of 1 ½ times the regular rate at which she is employed.  29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).  

Violation of the FLSA overtime requirement entitles the employee to unpaid overtime 

compensation determined using the employee’s regular rate plus an equal amount as 

liquidated damages.  29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

 At trial, Plaintiff presented evidence that she worked over 40 hours during the 

following weeks:  March 11, 2012, June 17, 2012, August 19, 2012, February 17, 2013, 

and April 1, 2013.  Defendant Robinson testified that he did not keep track of Plaintiff’s 

hours.  “Where an employer has failed to keep proper and accurate records in violation 

of the FLSA, an employee maintains his burden of proof ‘if he proves that the has in fact 

performed work for which he was improperly compensated and if he produces sufficient 

evidence to show the amount and extent of that work as a matter of just and reasonable 

inference.’”   Kreus v. Stiles Service Center, 250 Neb. 526, 550 N.W.2d 320 (1996) 
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(citing Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680, 687, 66 S.Ct. 1187, 1192 90 

L.Ed. 1515 (1946))    

Once an employee produces evidence, the burden of production shifts to the 

employer to produce evidence of the precise amount of work performed or produce 

evidence to negate the reasonableness of the inference to be drawn from the 

employee’s evidence.  The undisputed evidence in this case shows that Plaintiff is due 

overtime wages under the FLSA in the amount of $298.91. 

3. Can Plaintiff recover additional damages? 

As stated above, the FLSA provides that “any employer who violates the 

provisions of section 206 or 207 shall be liable to the employee in the amount of their 

unpaid wages, overtime compensation and in an additional equal amount as liquidated 

damages.  29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  Section 260 provides that if the employer shows to the 

satisfaction of the court that the act or omission giving rise to such action was in good 

faith and that he had reasonable grounds to believe that his act or omission was not a 

violation, the court may, in its sound discretion, award no liquidated damages under the 

FLSA or award a lesser amount not to exceed the amount specified.   Under Nebraska 

law, if the nonpayment of wages is found to be willful, an amount equal to two times the 

amount of unpaid wages may be recovered from the employer. Neb.Rev.Stat. § 48-

1232.   

Plaintiff argues that Defendants’ conduct was willful based on the following:  

Defendant Robinson testified that he knew courts around the nation had found exotic 

dancers to be employees under the law.  Robinson testified that Ms. Mays’ agreement 

was somewhat similar to that of Ms. Schupbach’s independent contractor agreement.  

Robinson was aware the Workers’ Compensation Court had found Ms. Schupbach to 

be “an employee” of Shakers.  Following the Schupbach decision, Defendant Robinson 

continued to withhold hourly rate pay from dancers while subjecting the dancers to 

dozens of mandatory house rules.    

Defendants argue that their conduct was not willful.  Defendants argue that no 

state or federal court within Nebraska has decided this issue.  Schupbach’s agreement 
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was with Shaker’s, a predecessor of Midnite Dreams, not either of the Defendants in 

this case.  Defendants point out that the agreement between Schupbach and Shaker’s 

was an independent contractor agreement and not a lease agreement.  And further, that 

the incident, 13 years ago, was a matter decided in the context of a worker’s 

compensation case.   

In Janda v. City of Omaha, 7 Neb. App. 98, 580 N.W.2d 123 (1998), the 

Nebraska Court of Appeals discussed the differing standards of willfulness and good 

faith under the FLSA.  In that case, the Court found that an employee’s work with 

outside performers during after-hours performances at City facilities entitled him to 

overtime compensation under the FLSA even though he may have been jointly 

employed by another entity.  Id. at 106.  The Court found that although the plaintiff had 

not shown the violation was willful for purposes of the statute of limitations exception 

under the FLSA, the City had not met its burden of showing its actions were done in 

good faith and with a reasonable belief that it had not violated the FLSA for purposes of 

liquidated damages.  Id. at 108-110.   

Similarly, in this case, to recover two times the amount of unpaid wages under 

the Nebraska statute, the plaintiff has the burden to prove the employer’s conduct was 

willful.  However, to avoid liquidated damages under the FLSA, the employer has the 

“plain and substantial burden of persuading the court by proof that his failure to obey the 

statute was both in good faith and predicated upon such reasonable grounds that it 

would be unfair to impose upon him more than a compensatory verdict.”  Id. at 109 

(citing Marshall v. Brunner, 668 F.2d 748, 753 (3d Cir. 1982).   

The Court does not find that Plaintiff met her burden of proof on the issue of 

willfulness.  Defendant Robinson asserted in his testimony that he believed the lease 

agreement was a valid and binding agreement, and that he did not view it as similar to 

the situation between Schupbach and Shakers.   Although most jurisdictions addressing 

the issue have held that exotic dancers are employees under the FLSA, not all have 

done so, and there have been no such cases within this jurisdiction.  The Court does 

not find the circumstances sufficient to impose upon the Defendants the punitive penalty 

afforded by the Nebraska statutes for a willful violation.   
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However, the Court also does not find that Defendants met their plain and 

substantial burden of persuading the court that their failure to obey the FLSA was both 

in good faith and predicated upon such reasonable grounds that it would be unfair to 

impose more than a compensatory verdict.  The FLSA makes clear that the employee is 

entitled to liquidated damages unless the Court finds that the employer has met its plain 

and substantial burden to prove good faith.  In Janda, the Nebraska Court of Appeals 

stated that the City’s “mere assertion that it had reasonable grounds to believe it was 

not violating FLSA does not rise to a level sufficient to meet its ‘plain and substantial’ 

burden of proof.”  7 Neb. App. at 109-110.   

The federal courts have characterized the employer’s burden to avoid liquidated 

damages by proving good faith as a difficult one, emphasizing that double damages are 

the norm and single damages the exception.  Barfield v. N.Y. City Health & Hosps. 

Corp., 537 F.3d 132, 150 (2nd Cir. 2008) (citing Herman v. RSR Sec. Servs., Ltd., 172 

F.3d 132, 142 (2d Cir. 1999).  “To establish the requisite subjective ‘good faith,’ an 

employer must show it took ‘active steps to ascertain the dictates of the FLSA and then 

act to comply with them.’”  Id.  (quoting Herman, 172 F.3d at 142).   In this case, 

Defendants did not produce any evidence of what steps they took to ensure their 

compliance with the FLSA.  Defendant Robinson’s testimony that he thought the lease 

agreement was valid is not enough to carry the Defendants’ burden of proof on this 

issue.   Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to recover an amount equal to her minimum 

wages and overtime compensation due as liquidated damages.   

 
4. Can Plaintiff recover against both Defendants? 
 
Plaintiff argues that Daniel Robinson and Midnite Dreams are one in the same 

because Mr. Robinson is the sole owner and sole corporate officer of the company.   

Defendants argue that Mays’ lease agreement was solely with Midnite Dreams, and that 

Defendant Daniel Robinson has no contractual or other employment relationship with 

the Plaintiff.  Under the FLSA, the definition of employer is necessarily a broad one in 

accordance with the remedial purpose of the statute.  Morrison v. Int’l Programs 

Consortium, Inc,, 253 F.3d 5, 10 (D.C. Cir. 2001). 
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The remedial goals of the FLSA require courts to define “employer” more 
broadly than the traditional common-law application. McLaughlin v. 
Seafood, Inc., 867 F.2d 875, 877 (5th Cir. 1989).  Section 3(d) of the FLSA 
defines “employer” as “any person acting directly or indirectly in the interest 
of an employer in relation to an employee.”  29 U.S.C. § 203(d).  The 
determination of whether a person is an “employer” is essentially a 
question of fact, and the court must evaluate the totality of the 
circumstances, focusing on the economic realities of the particular 
employment relationship.  Donovan v. Sabine Irrigation Co., Inc., 695 F.2d 
190, 194 (5th Cir.), cert denied 463 U.S. 1207, 103 S.Ct. 3537, 77 L.Ed.2d 
1387 (1983).   
 

Reich v. Priba Corp., 890 F.Supp. 586, 590 (N.D. Tex. 1995).  The Nebraska statutes 

have nearly identical language defining an employer as “any individual . . . acting 

directly or indirectly in the interest of an employer in relation to an employee.”  Neb. 

Rev. Stat. § 48-1202(2).  In applying the economic reality test to this issue, the court 

must look to the circumstances of the relationship between the employee and employer 

to determine whether the putative employer has the power to hire and fire, supervise 

and control work schedules or conditions of employment, determine rate and method of 

pay and maintain employment records.  Carter v. Dutchess Cmty. Coll., 735 F.2d 8, 12 

(2d Cir. 1984) (citations omitted).  See also Hart, 967 F.Supp.2d at 939-40. 

Defendant Daniel Robinson supervised the dancers, had control over hiring and 

firing, and enforced club rules governing the dancers’ conduct, including the imposition 

of monetary fines.  Robinson held all the corporate offices of Midnite Dreams, never 

held corporate meetings, authored no minutes of corporate meetings and did not have a 

separate corporate office.  Robinson, as sole owner and corporate officer of the 

company, was certainly acting directly in the interest of Plaintiff’s employer.  Defendant 

Robinson’s ownership of Midnite Dreams and his high degree of operational control 

over the circumstances of Plaintiff’s employment make him an “employer” for purposes 

of Nebraska statutory and FLSA violations.  An employee may have multiple employers 

for purposes of the FLSA, in which case the employers are responsible, both 

individually and jointly, for compliance with all provisions of the FLSA.  See 29 C.F.R. § 

791.2(a).  See also Hart, 967 F.Supp.2d at 939; Janda, 7 Neb. App. at 107.  
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Accordingly, the Defendants are jointly and severally liable to the Plaintiff under both 

Nebraska statutes and the FLSA. 

 

IV. DOES PLAINTIFF HAVE A CLAIM FOR DEFENDANTS’ FAILURE 
TO POST A COPY OF THE NEBRASKA STATUTE AND FLSA? 

 
Plaintiff argues that Counts I and II of Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint contain 

posting provision violations arising under Neb. Rev. Stat. §§48-1205, 20-148 and the 

FLSA.  Defendants argue that this claim was not fairly preserved in the final order on 

pretrial conference and has been waived. Plaintiff concedes that the posting provision 

violations were not specifically listed in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Pretrial Conference 

Memorandum, however, Defendant failed to object to the evidence offered at trial which 

substantiated the claims.  Plaintiff argues that based upon the trial evidence, it is 

undisputed that the Defendants failed to comply with statutory wage and hour posting 

provisions.   

 
A. No Express Nebraska remedy for posting violation 

Neb.Rev.Stat.§ 48-1205 provides:  “Every employer subject to the provisions of 

sections 48-1201 to 48-1209 shall keep a summary of sections 48-1201 to 48-1209, 

furnished by the Commissioner of Labor without charge, posted in a conspicuous place 

on or about the premises wherein any person subject to the provisions of sections 48-

1201 to 48-1209 is employed.”  Neb.Rev.Stat. §§ 48-1231 provides that “[a]n employee 

having a claim for wages . . . may institute suit for such unpaid wages in the proper 

court.”   There is no such provision providing a cause of action against an employer for 

failing to post the wage provisions.   

Plaintiff argues that Neb.Rev.Stat. § 20-128 provides her an avenue for 

relief.  Neb.Rev.Stat. § 20-128(1) states:  

Any person or company as defined in § 49-801, except any political 
subdivision, who subjects or causes to be subjected any citizen of this 
state or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of 
any rights, privileges or immunities secured by the United States 
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Constitution or the Constitution and laws of the State of Nebraska, shall be 
liable to such injured person in a civil action or other proper proceeding for 
redress brought by such injured person.   

This Court is not aware of any case law allowing for a private cause of action for failure 

to post wage and hour laws in Nebraska. 

B.  No Express FLSA Remedy for posting violation 

Courts have held that the only remedy available under the FLSA to private 

plaintiffs is damages "in the amount" of their "unpaid minimum wages" or "unpaid 

overtime compensation," plus an equal amount in liquidated damages under 29 U.S.C. 

§ 216(b).  Trejo v. Ryman Hospitality Props., 795 F.3d 442, 448 (4th Cir. 2015).  In Trejo 

the Fourth Circuit found that the plaintiffs’ claims concerning their employer’s tip pooling 

requirement were not actionable through a private action under the FLSA.  Id.  The 

plaintiffs in that case argued that § 203(m) conferred on them not only a substantive 

right to retain their tips but also a private cause of action to enforce that right through a 

suit for damages.  Id. at 445-46.  The Court held that Section 216(b) contains the only 

express private cause of action under the FLSA in which the plaintiffs' claims could be 

brought.  Id. at 448.   

  The concurring opinion in Trejo points out that the FLSA establishes two 

separate means of enforcement: a private right of action for aggrieved employees, and 

a public enforcement power wielded by the Wage and Hour Division of the Department 

of Labor (“DOL”).  Trejo, 795 F.3d at 448 (Harris, J., concurring).  Section 216(b) of the 

FLSA is an express private right of action, under which employees may sue for 

damages when their employers violate the Act.  But that private remedy is available only 

when an employee is owed "unpaid minimum wages, or . . . unpaid overtime 

compensation" as a result of a minimum-wage or overtime violation.  See 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b); Trejo, 795 F.3d 449 (Harris, J., concurring).   

The Fourth Circuit in Trejo concluded that where Congress has provided for an 

enforcement scheme and an express private remedy under the FLSA there is no need 

to imply any additional remedies.   As stated by the U.S. Supreme Court:  
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Unless such "congressional intent can be inferred from the language of 

the statute,  the statutory structure, or some other source, the essential 

predicate for implication of a private remedy simply does not exist." 

Thompson v. Thompson, 484 U.S. 174, 108 S. Ct. 512, 98 L. Ed. 2d 513 

(1988). It is also an "elemental canon" of statutory construction that where 

a statute expressly provides a remedy, courts must be especially reluctant 

to provide additional remedies.  Transamerica Mortgage Advisors, Inc. v. 

Lewis, 444 U.S. 11, 19, 62 L. Ed. 2d 146, 100 S. Ct. 242 (1979). In such 

cases, "in the absence of strong indicia of contrary congressional intent, 

we are compelled to conclude that Congress provided precisely the 

remedies it considered appropriate." Middlesex City Sewerage Auth. v. 

Sea Clammers, 453 U.S. 1, 15, 69 L. Ed. 2d 435, 101 S. Ct. 2615 (1981). 

Karahalios v. Nat'l Fed'n of Fed. Employees, 489 U.S. 527, 532-33, 103 L. Ed. 2d 539, 

109 S. Ct. 1282 (1989). 

C.   Plaintiff has no private cause of action for posting violations. 

Both the FLSA and Nebraska Wage Payment and Collection Act establish two 

separate means of enforcement: a private right of action for aggrieved employees, and 

a public enforcement power wielded by the respective federal and state Departments of 

Labor.  There is no need to imply a private cause of action for failure to post wage and 

hour provisions under either federal or state law.  Plaintiff even concedes that there is 

no provision concerning what remedy would be appropriate for such a claim.5  

Accordingly, this Court declines to imply a private right of action for Defendants’ failure 

to post applicable wage and hour provisions in the club.   

 

 

                                                           
5 An injunction requiring the posting of the wage and hour provisions would possibly be an appropriate remedy.  As 
the Court explained in Trejo, the Department of Labor's enforcement powers are broader; it may sue employers for 
damages, on behalf of employees under § 216(b), and also may seek injunctive relief against employers under § 217 
of the Act.  See 29 U.S.C.  § 217; Trejo, 795 F.3d 449 (Harris, J., concurring).   
 



25 
 

CONCLUSION 

Plaintiff is an employee for purposes of the Nebraska Wage Payment and 

Collection Act and the Fair Labor Standards Act.  She is owed minimum wages, 

overtime wages, and an equal amount as liquidated damages, plus an attorney’s fee 

and costs of suit.   

Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED that judgment is entered in favor of the 

Plaintiff Elizabeth Mays and against the Defendants Midnite Dreams, Inc. and Daniel 

Robinson, jointly and severally, in the amount of $7,586.78, plus attorney’s fees, court 

costs and post judgment interest at the statutory rate of 2.927%.6   

It is further ORDERED that Plaintiff has ten (10) days to file a motion to amend 

the judgment to allow her to submit evidence in support of her request for reasonable 

attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to the Nebraska Wage Payment and Collection Act, 

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-1231, and the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

 Dated this 25th day of April, 2017. 

 

      BY THE COURT:  

 

          

      Susan I. Strong 
District Court Judge 

                                                           
6 At trial, the Court took Defendants’ Motion for Directed Verdict or to Dismiss under advisement.  Defendants’ motion 
is hereby overruled. 
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